Original

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STEVE ANTON DAVIS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 76,043

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.



INITIAL BREIF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL J. SNURE and DAVID A. HENSON, of MULLER, KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY AND SNURE, P.A. 1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1 Post Office Box 2728 Winter Park, Florida 32790 Telephone: (407) 645-3000

Florida Bar No. 363235 Florida Bar No. 330620

Attorneys for APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

• •

٠

Throughout this Brief the Appellant, STEVE ANTON DAVIS, will be referred to either as the Defendant or Davis. The Appellee will be referred to as the State. The following symbols will be used to refer to the Record on Appeal:

R - Pleadings and trial transcript.

S - Transcript of sentencing hearing held April

24, 1989.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

* *

By an Information filed October 19, 1988, the Defendant was charged with one count of Possession of Cocaine, in violation of <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §893.13(1)(f) (1987); and a second count of Delivery of Cocaine in violation of <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §893.13(1)(a)(1) (1987). (R-288) Both charges arose from the alleged August 25, 1988 act of selling a single "twenty-cent" i.e., Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) piece of crack cocaine to an undercover officer named Julia Chatman. (R-101, 105, 288)

The cause was tried before Orange County Circuit Judge Gary L. Formet, Sr. on January 17, 1989. (R-1) During jury selection the trial court responded to a juror who posed to defense counsel the double-edged question of whether it was counsel's job to defend a client known to be guilty and the prosecutor's converse responsibility to prosecute someone known to be innocent. (R-57) After giving the explanation that the prosecutor's duty was to seek justice, while defense counsel's duty was to ensure that accused receive a fair trial--the Court went on to state:

> [I]f the state knew beyond any reasonable doubt that the defendant was innocent, they would not bring those charges. But the state's job is to evaluate the evidence that they have available. Based upon that, present that evidence that they believe or that they think will indicate or will convince the jury that the defendant is guilty.

(R-57, 58) Defense counsel immediately approached the bench and moved to strike the jury panel. (R-59, 60) The trial court denied Defendant's Motion to Strike, but granted Defendant's fall-back request that a curative instruction be given. (R-60)

Subsequently, the Defendant accepted the jury panel, in the sense of making it clear he had no <u>further</u> objection to the panel, while stressing he was not waiving his prior objection represented by the Motion to Strike or his related contention that the comment was so prejudicial that a curative instruction was insufficient to preserve his ability to receive a fair trial before an impartial jury. (R-63) Additionally, he renewed his objection and Motion to Strike at the close of all the evidence. (R-217)

. .

The State's case consisted entirely of testimony from crime lab analyst Nanette J. Rudolph, and from Officer Julia Chatman. Following their testimony, the Defendant moved for a judgment of acquittal on the basis that the State's evidence was legally insufficient to identify him as the perpetrator. (R-147) This motion was denied. (R-147)

After the defense presented its case, which consisted of testimony from the Defendant and from James Robinson, the Court denied Defendant's renewed Motion for Judgment of Acquittal which likewise challenged the sufficiency of the State's identification evidence. (R-217, 218)

Although no objections or mistrial motions were made during closing argument, the prosecutor made a number of grossly impermissible comments suggesting the jury should do its part to respond to society's "drug problem" by convicting the Defendant (R-223, 224); that Deputy Chatman (who was doing her part to combat drugs) doesn't make mistakes and <u>knows</u> Defendant to be guilty (R-

224-229, 230, 233, 255); and that the Defendant wouldn't have been prosecuted if he was innocent. (R-253).

• •

, **ι**

On January 18, 1989, the jury returned verdicts finding Defendant guilty as charged on both counts of the Information. (R-301, 302) He was then adjudicated guilty of simple possession of cocaine and delivery of cocaine. (R-303, 304)

On January 20, 1989, a timely Motion for New Trial was filed by Defendant. (R-306) The Court denied this motion. (R-307)

On April 24, 1989, the Defendant appeared before Judge Formet for sentencing. At that time he was again adjudicated guilty of both counts and placed on four (4) year terms of concurrent probation. (R-310, 311, 317; S-7) Jail credit of 98 days was recognized. (R-312; S-5)

On May 23, 1989, the Defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal from his judgments and sentences. (R-313) This appeal was duly prosecuted and resulted in the Fifth District Court of Appeal issuing an opinion in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 560 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) holding that the Defendant's separate convictions and sentences for the crime of possession of one rock of cocaine and for the crime of delivery of that same rock of cocaine did not violate his right to protection for double jeopardy provided by either the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Const. or Art. I, §9 of the Fla. Constitution. The opinion did not address the Defendant's contentions that his due process rights had been violated by: (1) having to stand trial before a jury whose impartiality had been

destroyed by an inadvertent judicial remark which constituted both a comment on his guilt, as well as judicial vouching for the integrity of the prosecutor; and (2) grossly improper prosecutorial comments during closing argument.

۰, ۲

On April 20, 1990, the Defendant filed a timely Motion for Rehearing which was denied on May 15, 1990.

On May 23, 1990, the Defendant timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Jurisdictional Briefs were subsequently filed by the parties and on October 24, 1990 this Court issued an Order accepting jurisdiction, pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(3) of the Fla. Const. and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), because of express and direct conflict with V.A.A. v. State, 561 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Thursday, August 25, 1988, at about 10:30 p.m., members of an Orange County Sheriff's Department "arrest team" descended upon a restaurant known as the Cozy Inn and arrested Defendant on the suspicion that he had, seconds earlier, made a Twenty Dollar (\$20.00) sale of crack cocaine to undercover agent Julia Chatman. (R-96, 105) At the time of his apprehension, the Defendant was standing outside of the restaurant. (R-169, 170) There were at least four (4) or five (5) other people in the vicinity. (R-103) An on-the-spot search of his person failed to produce the marked Twenty Dollar (\$20.00) bill just used by Chatman to purchase the cocaine. (R-119, 172)

At trial, Agent Chatman testified that she drove to the Cozy Inn on the evening of August 25, 1988 to pose as a motorist seeking to purchase cocaine. (R-96) While ostensibly alone, she was using her police radio and also a body bug to stay in contact with back-up agents. (R-99, 100) It was her testimony that once she pulled in, the Defendant approached her car so she asked him about getting Twenty Dollars (\$20.00) worth of crack cocaine. (R-97) He said he didn't have it, but he could go inside and get (R-97, 98) He then directed her to park her car at the rear some. of the business. (R-98) She complied. (R-98) Shortly thereafter, the Defendant came out of the rear of the Cozy Inn and told her to park in the front of the business. (R-98) While the Defendant was approaching for the second time, she repeated a description of his clothing (dark blue pullover V-neck shirt, blue pants, and a knit-

type cap), plus his location to the arrest team. (R-101, 102) After being directed to move her car again, Agent Chatman drove to the side entrance of the Cozy Inn. On his third approach to her car, the Defendant purportedly handed Chatman a suspected piece of crack cocaine, at which time Chatman handed over a Twenty Dollar (\$20.00) bill then gave the code signal for the arrest team to move in. (R-101, 103, 105) Chatman then left the area. As she was leaving the parking lot area of the Cozy Inn she saw the arrest team arriving in a separate car. (R-103) Within a minute or less of the time of the exchange, Chatman circled around in her car to confirm that the arrest team had taken the correct suspect into custody. (R-104, 105)

× #

On cross-examination, Chatman admitted that the marked Twenty Dollar (\$20.00) bill was never recovered from Defendant's person. (R-119) She indicated she had just begun doing undercover narcotics work the previous month, and over the course of five months had been responsible for setting up 42 arrests. (R-127) In fact, five (5) or six (6) of those arrests took place at the Cozy Inn. (R-127) She admitted that she lost visual track of the Defendant every time she moved her car, and didn't actually see him (R-130, 137) being apprehended. She positively identified the Defendant in trial as the person who sold her Exhibit #1, however, she was unable to identify the names of any officers in the takedown car who actually implemented Defendant's arrest. (R-101, 145)

Lab analyst, Nanette Rudolph, testified she had analyzed the contents of State's Exhibit #1 and had determined that the exhibit contained cocaine. (R-88-93)

* 5

The Defendant testified that in the late evening of August 25, 1988, he and a friend named James Robinson went to the Cozy Inn for dinner. (R-163, 166) Apart from speaking to someone named "Noony" before they entered the building all they did at the Cozy Inn was eat dinner and drink a beer or two. (R-168)

After finishing their meals, James Robinson and the Defendant were exiting the restaurant when the Defendant was taken into custody by a member of the arrest team. (R-168-170, 172) After being handcuffed, the Defendant's money was temporarily removed from his pocket, checked and then placed back inside his pocket. (R-172) Another man was also taken into custody, but was soon released by the officers. (R-174, 175) The Defendant denied ever approaching Chatman's car or offering to sell her any cocaine. (R-173, 174)

Defense witness James Robinson testified that he knows Defendant as a neighbor, friend, and co-worker. (R-191) According to Robinson, he and the Defendant went to the Cozy Inn on August 25, 1988 in order to eat dinner. (R-195) After eating and upon exiting the restaurant, the arrest team converged upon the area causing people to scatter. (R-201) In addition to taking Davis into custody, law enforcement agents also apprehended another man. (R-201, 202) Robinson testified to being confident that the

Defendant wasn't selling crack cocaine on the evening of his arrest. (R-202)

. *

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

• '

Defendant/Appellant's argument in Point I is that as a matter of statutory construction and legislative intent, <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §775.021(4)(b)3 (Supp. 1988) prohibits dual convictions and sentences for the simultaneous sale (or delivery) and possession of the same quantum of contraband. In other words, simple possession is a lesser offense falling within the third "subsumed elements" category of §775.021(4)(b). Therefore, the appellate court below erred in affirming Defendant's separate conviction and sentence for simple possession of the same piece of crack cocaine he was convicted of selling on August 25, 1988.

The argument in Point II is that the Defendant's separate convictions and punishments for the crimes of delivery of one rock of cocaine and simple possession of that same rock of cocaine violate the double jeopardy clause of Art. I, §9 of the Fla. Constitution.

In Point III, the Defendant maintains that the trial court committed reversible error in denying his motion to strike the jury panel, thereby requiring him to stand trial before a jury whose impartiality had been destroyed by an inadvertent judicial remark which constituted both a comment on the Defendant's guilt, as well as judicial vouching for the integrity of the prosecutor.

The argument in Point IV is that fundamental error occurred as a consequence of highly improper and prejudicial prosecutorial comments during closing argument. In short, the improper remarks of counsel meet the criteria for fundamental error

in that they had the capacity to so thoroughly taint his trial that neither objection nor retraction could entirely destroy their sinister influence. The comments at issue were prejudicial because they: (1) urged the jury to "solve" society's drug problem by returning a guilty verdict against Defendant; (2) vouched for the credibility of the State's two (2) witnesses; and (3) indicated the Defendant would not have been brought to trial if he was innocent as claimed.

4 ×

Point V is a cumulative error argument with the Defendant maintaining that the collective impact of the errors raised in Points III and IV regarding improper judicial comment and prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument was so extensive that its influence pervaded Defendant's trial.

Point VI is an alternative double jeopardy argument wherein the Defendant maintains his separate convictions and punishments for the crimes of sale of cocaine and simple possession of the same cocaine violate the double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

POINT I

. •

FLA. STAT. §775.021(4)(b)3 (SUPP. 1988) PROHIBITS DUAL CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES FOR THE SIMULTANEOUS DELIVERY AND POSSESSION OF THE SAME QUANTUM OF CONTRABAND.

The present appeal arises from the context of an August 25, 1988 hand-to-hand drug transaction and presents the issue of whether §775.021(4)(b)3 (Supp. 1988) (effective July 1, 1988) will allow separate convictions and sentences for the crime of delivery of one rock of cocaine, and for the crime of simultaneously possessing that same rock of cocaine. The Defendant/Appellant maintains that the 1988 Amendment to §775.021 prohibits separate convictions and sentences for sale or delivery of cocaine and possession of cocaine as to a single factual event (single act) involving one quantum of contraband, since possession is a lesser offense falling within the third "subsumed elements" category of §775.021(4)(b). Accordingly, the appellate court below erred when it affirmed Defendant's separate conviction and sentence for having possessed the same piece of crack cocaine delivered or sold on August 25, 1988 based on its conclusion that §775.021(4)(b)3 was inapplicable.

Section 775.021 provides rules of construction for criminal statutes. Section 775.021(4) incorporates the <u>Blockburger¹</u> test that offenses are separate if each offense requires an element of proof that is not contained in the other

¹ <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

offense. In 1988 the Legislature amended §775.021(4) to read as

follows:

<u>،</u> •

(4) (a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits <u>an</u> <u>act or acts which constitute one or more</u> separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

(b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:

<u>1. Offenses which require identical</u> <u>elements of proof.</u>

2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.

3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

Ch. 88-131, §7, Laws of Fla. (insertions are underlined).²

By its terms, subsection 775.021(4)(b) provides that it is the legislature's intent to prohibit multiple punishments for offenses which, <u>inter alia</u>, are lesser offenses in the sense that all of the elements of one of the crimes are included or subsumed within the essential elements of the greater offense.

² The 1988 amended version of §775.021 applies to crimes occurring on or after July 1, 1988. <u>See</u>, <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989).

In <u>V.A.A. v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), review pending Case No. 75,902, the Second District applied the amended version of §775.021 (Supp. 1988) and held that separate convictions and punishments for sale and possession of the same quantity of contraband (cannabis) was prohibited because the crimes fit into the third enumerated exception outlined in §775.021(4)(b). The V.A.A. Court explained its holding was based on an analysis of the elements of the crimes of sale and possession it had utilized earlier in Gordon v. State, 528 So.2d 910 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), approved sub nom State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). The facts of Gordon v. State, Id. were that the accused possessed a single piece of crack cocaine which he sold to undercover police agents for Ten Dollars (\$10.00). Based on the sale of that one rock the defendant was arrested and charged with one count of sale of cocaine and one count of possession of cocaine with intent to Cognizant that each of the charged crimes involved the sell. element of possession, the Gordon Court stated:

 ~ 2

We begin our discussion with the possession element of these two (2) crimes. A defendant cannot be convicted of either crime unless he is deemed, at law, to have had some sort of possession of the contraband. [footnote omitted] As to the crime of sale, a defendant need not be the actual possessor of the contraband although such actual possession will naturally result in criminal sanctions as in the instant case. The possessory element can be shared by others legally responsible for the crime. For example, a person acting as a go-between or broker may arrange for or be the moving force in the sale of contraband, yet never have either actual nor constructive possession of the contraband. In such case, the active seller who has actual possession of the contraband becomes the act of the broker.

broker is deemed to have the same The possession as the seller and can be convicted as a principal of the crime of sale under Chapter 777, Florida Statutes. As to the crime of possession with intent-to-sell, we need not elaborate on the obvious, to wit, possession is an element of this crime. <u>In</u> the case before us, then, where there is no question of a broker or others involved in the crime charged, but rather a single act of a single defendant, we conclude that the first element of the crime of sale of contraband as well as the crime of possession with intent to sell contraband is possession.

Id. at 912. (emphasis supplied)

۰ ^۱

In <u>State v. McCloud</u>, 559 So.2d 1305 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), <u>review pending</u> Case No. 75,975, the Second District applied its <u>Gordon/V.A.A.</u> analysis to the crimes of simple possession and sale of cocaine, arising from a single transaction and single quantum of cocaine, and concluded these crimes also fit within the "subsumed elements" category of the amended version of §775.021(4)(b), precluding dual convictions. <u>See also</u>, <u>Crisel v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 453 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), <u>review pending</u> Case No. 76,183, (defendant entitled to have possession of contraband charges dismissed since charges were subsumed into contraband sale charges for purposes of §775.021(4)(b)3); <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), <u>review pending</u> Case No. 76,626, (possession of cocaine with intent to sell charge subsumed by crime of sale of cocaine, precluding conviction and sentence for both crimes).

The Defendant also relies upon the analysis provided by Judge Cowart who dissented in the opinion below (*Davis v. State*, 560 So.2d at 1234-1239), and urges this Court to adopt his position that the 1988 Amendment to §775.021(4) by Ch. 88-131, §7, Laws of

Florida, does <u>not</u> reflect a legislative intent to treat sale or delivery of a controlled substance, and the possession of that substance as separate offenses subject to separate convictions and punishments. In explanation of this conclusion, Judge Cowart made the following analysis of the relationship between these crimes:

• •

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