IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

STEVE ANTON DAVIS,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 76, 043

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID S. MORGAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 651265 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

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

³ Crisel v. State, 561 So.2d 453 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) was expressly founded upon V.A.A. v. State, 561 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). The decisions in V.A.A. and State v. McCloud, 559 So.2d 1305 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), were explicitly dependent upon the Gordon analysis.

statement by this court of its view that a defendant can properly be convicted and sentenced for both possession and sale of the same quantity of cocaine. In most of its cases involving this issue the Second District relies on "Gordon v. State, 528 So.2d 910 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), decision approved sub nom., State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989)." See e.g., Goins v. State, 559 So.2d 462 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). While it is true that this court upheld the Gordon decision in Smith, the qualified holding follows:

In summary, we hold that Carawan has been overridden for offenses that occur after the effective date of chapter 88-131, section 7, but the override will not be retroactively applied. As qualified, we answer the certified question in the affirmative and approve the decisions below.

Smith, supra, 617 (emphases added).

In short, by amending §775.021(4) the legislature has made clear its intent to convict and punish for both offenses those who commit the crimes of simple possession of cocaine and sale of the same cocaine. This court so held in *Smith* and *Burton*, and should so hold again here.

Point Two

THE PETITIONER'S CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH POSSESSION AND SALE OF THE SAME QUANTITY OF COCAINE DOES NOT VIOLATE THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

This court has instructed that "[s]tatutes are presumed to be constitutional until the contrary is shown; and it is only when they manifestly infringe some provision of the Constitution that they can be declared void for that reason." Carroll v. State, 361 So.2d 144, 145 (Fla. 1978) (citation omitted). Further, courts should "always endeavor to preserve statutes and to avoid constitutional issues." State, ex rel. City of Casselberry v. Mager, 356 So.2d 267, 269, n. 6 (Fla. 1978) (citation omitted); State v. Tsavaris, 394 So.2d 418, 421 (Fla. 1981) (citations omitted). "Even if the statute is susceptible to more than interpretation, courts adopt the constitutional must construction." State v. Deese, 495 So.2d 286, 287 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) (citations omitted).

court below correctly observed, this court expressly held that the double jeopardy provision under the state constitution is to be construed in the same manner as its counterpart in the federal constitution. Davis. 1232. The defense spuriously argues that the construction given Article I, Section 9, of the Florida Constitution by this court in State v. Cantrell, 417 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1982) should not apply here. Ιt bases its contention on the analyses and holdings in Carawan, supra, and Wilkins v. State, 543 So.2d 161 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), both of which discussed the holding in Ex parte Lange, 85 U.S. (18 Wall.) 163, 173, 21 L.Ed.2d 872 (1873).

There are two fundamental problems with the defense argument. First of all, it relies upon a 117 year old United States Supreme Court opinion interpreting the federal constitution for its assertion that the petitioner's convictions and sentences violate provisions of the state constitution. Secondly, the modern Florida cases upon which the defense founds its argument predate the holdings of this court in Smith and Burton. As already noted, Carawan was expressly overruled in Smith. That undermines the defense reliance on Wilkins because the Fifth District was merely speculating how this court might respond to essentially the same argument the defense is now advancing in light of Carawan.

The defense goes on at some length in explaining why it thinks this court should construe article I, section 9, differently than the fifth amendment. It does not, however, provide any case which so holds. In fact, even Carawan and Gordon, supra, were founded upon determinations of legislative intent.

One of the grounds upon which the defense asserts that this court should reject legislative intent as the polestar of a double jeopardy analysis is the "balkanization" resulting from the decisions of the United States Supreme Court effectively designate to the assorted state legislatures the responsibility for defining crimes. While such an argument might have some relevancy in that Court because its rulings resulted in the "balkanization", it is of little moment here. What the legislatures do in the other 49 states is of little significance in determining whether the Florida Constitution is violated. simply would not make sense for this court to disregard wellestablished state constitutional principles because of some perceived flaw in the analysis of the United States Supreme Court regarding the fifth amendment.

The defense views the holdings of the Supreme Court as an abdication of the judicial responsibility to interpret constitutions to the legislatures. That simply is not so. The constitutional double jeopardy provisions at issue here have been and continue to be construed by the courts. The fact that reliance is placed upon legislative intent means neither that the courts no longer construe constitutional provisions (e.g., this nor that the legislature is free to proceeding) implement unconstitutional laws. However, "[i]t is well settled that the define legislature has the power to crimes and punishments." Rusaw v. State, 451 So.2d 469, 470 (Fla. 1984). That is what is constitutionally required.

The defense also suggests that the use of the double jeopardy analysis developed in *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180 (1932), fails to protect citizens of Florida. This claim is based upon the contention that under this standard illogical results are obtained because an individual can be convicted of innumerable offenses stemming from one act. Such an argument overlooks the limiting nature of §775.021(4)(b)1-3, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). A defendant may only be convicted of those offenses committed during one criminal act that have different elements.

In short, this court has repeatedly held that double jeopardy analyses are appropriately conducted with the primary focus upon legislative intent. It should so hold again in this case.

Point Three

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE DEFENSE MOTION TO STRIKE THE JURY PANEL.

"There is hardly any area of the law in which the trial judge is given more discretion than in ruling on challenges of jurors for cause." $Cook\ v.\ State$, 542 So.2d 964, 969 (Fla. 1989).

The defense argument focuses upon one sentence spoken by the trial judge during *voir dire*. In response to a question by one of the veniremen he said:

The state, if the state knew beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was innocent, they would not bring those charges. job is to evaluate state's evidence that they have available. that, upon present Based evidence that they believe or that they think will indicate or convince the jury that the defendant is quilty.

(R 58; underlined portion quoted in petitioner's merits brief, p. 31).

The defense quotes only the first sentence. "If the statement is taken out of context, isolated and pondered without regard for what prompted it [and what followed it], the appellant's point would appear well taken." Raulerson v. State, 102 So.2d 281, 284 (Fla. 1958). The balance of the paragraph illustrates that the comments of the judge simply did not imply that he believed that the state would not prosecute an innocent man because the prosecutors sought justice.

The comments of the judge had been prompted by the question below which was asked by a potential juror during voir dire:

You or Mr. Townes asked this question, if you knew that the party was guilty or not guilty, the same as they knew he was guilty or not guilty, do you do it because of your job to do it?

(R 57).

The question is equivocal in that it is not clear to whom the potential juror was referring. However, the judge interpreted "they" to mean the attorneys (R 57-59). He contrasted the roles of prosecutors and defense attorneys. Immediately after the challenged statement he explained:

Whether or not the attorneys, or the defense attorney believes his client is guilty or not guilty is, really does not affect his job. He cannot, for our system to work, it cannot.

(R 58).

He also pointed out "that the jury, not the attorneys, has to make the decision whether or not a defendant is guilty." Id. All of these remarks preceded the defense objection (R 59).

The judge was merely trying to make the jurors recognize the competing roles and obligations of the attorneys for the parties. To ensure an unbiased explanation he chose to answer the question himself (R 57). This court addressed a similar issue in Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1986). Pope contended that the statement by the judge that "no one has a right to violate the rules we all share" evidenced favoritism toward the state. The argument was rejected because:

[T]he trial judge was simply attempting to clarify questions during voir dire examination. This is clearly not the type or extent of interjection which has been found objectionable.

Id., 802 (citations omitted).

Most of the cases cited by the defense are not on point. lack of impartiality by the jury because involved а information extrinsically obtained. The majority of others involved comments made by the judge on evidence produced at trial or on witness credibility. The only case cited by the defense which dealt with a judge's comments during voir dire is Lester v. State, 458 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). It is readily distinguishable from the instant case because the trial judge had defined kidnapping by presenting a hypothetical with facts identical to those in the case that was about to be tried. The judge below, on the other hand, never alluded to the facts of the case during voir dire.

Accepting, arguendo, that the comment was objectionable, it was precipitated by the manner in which defense counsel examined the venire. Among other questions, he asked if anyone thought that the defendant had to have done something wrong or he would not be at trial (R 38), discussed the information, id., and pointed out that the finding of reasonable doubt was their "job" (R 40). "A party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal." Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1983) (citations omitted).

Even if the court's comment was improper, it was cured by the subsequent instruction to the jury, which included the following:

have someone [i.e., state attorney back in the charge division"] who just looked at doesn't the charges, he know evidence, he's only examining evidence. was not there, He

does doesn't, not know what the evidence is, what orthe evidence is why [,] is it's presented to the jury. You have to decide what the evidence is in this particular case, what the factual situation is.

(R 61-62).

The curative instruction was not a clumsy effort at back peddling. To the contrary, not only did it serve to defuse any potential bolstering of the prosecutor, it was consistent with standard jury instructions. See e.g., Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §2.05. Furthermore, during preliminary instructions the judge again advised the jury that it was to rely upon the evidence (R 76, 78, 83), that the information was not evidence and was not to be considered as proof of guilt (R 76), and the presumption of innocence was explained (R 79, 82). Similar instructions were again given at the conclusion of the case (R 256-264).

Contrary to the assertion of the defense, the state did not have a tenuous case of identification. The identification of the defendant by the deputy who had purchased the cocaine was quite certain. She had seen the arrest team headed toward the defendant (R 104). The officers were within an arm's length of him before she lost visual contact (R 137). She came back to the scene within one minute and confirmed that the right suspect had been arrested (R 104-105). At trial she noted that the defendant's appearance had changed, but still identified him as the same individual (R 102). The weight of the evidence is a matter for the jury. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla.

1981). The case of Whitfield v. State, 452 So.2d 548 (Fla. 1984) does not support the defense argument. The trial judge had instructed the jury that guilt could be inferred because the defendant had refused to be fingerprinted. That judge expressly provided the jury with a permissive presumption after the evidence had been introduced. The remark below was made prior to the introduction of evidence and condoned no inference by the jury.

Although the defense perceives the case to be essentially a swearing contest, the cases it relies upon did not reverse upon that basis alone. For example, Renney v. State, 543 So.2d 420 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), also involved repeated prosecutorial misconduct throughout the trial.

The defense also argues that the prosecutor during closing argument exploited the remark made by the judge during voir dire. This particular claim is procedurally barred. "In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court." Bertolotti v. State, 514 So.2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 1987) (citation omitted). This conjunctive contention was never presented to the trial court and should not be considered here. Furthermore, such a claim is without merit. As the defense concedes in the next point, no objection was voiced to the prosecutor's remarks during closing argument. Nor was ground raised in the motion for new trial (R 306). For the reasons already discussed, the comment was neutralized if it had been objectionable and the jury's attention certainly would not have been upon an innocuous comment made during the preliminary proceedings while it was deliberating.

In sum, the judge's comments neither implied guilt nor bolstered the integrity of the prosecutor. Any potential prejudice was negated by the curative instruction.

Point Four

THE GROUND NOW ADVANCED WAS WAIVED BELOW. FURTHER, THE REMARKS WERE INVITED AND NOT FUNDAMENTALLY PREJUDICIAL.

"[T]o preserve a claim based on improper comment, counsel has the obligation to object and request a mistrial. If counsel fails to object or if, after having objected, fails to move for a mistrial, his silence will be considered an implied waiver."

Nixon v. State, 15 F.L.W. D630 (Fla. November 29, 1990). Because there was no contemporaneous objection voiced when the prosecutor made his remarks the issue should not be considered.

The defense below invited the remarks of the prosecutor on the deputy's credibility. *Cf. DuFour v. State*, 495 So.2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1986). After questioning her regarding the suspect's identity, the following exchange took place:

- Q. How full was the beard of the person you remember talking to out --?
- A. I can't say like that thick. He's trimmed it or --
- Q. Or it's not him? But we're getting to that....

(R 144, emphasis added).

In addition to this implication of perjury, the defense further made witness veracity a primary issue in the questioning of its own witnesses. Not only was the defendant asked if he knew why the deputies had arrested him (R 176), but further:

- Q. You know what it is to tell a lie?
- A. Yeah.

- Q. And you know what it is to tell the truth?
- A. Yes.
- Q. You realize that you're under oath.
- A. Yeah, I know that.
- Q. What does it mean to you to be under oath? What do you have to do?
- A. I'm swearing to almighty God.
- Q. So you realize that you could face penalties if you lie?

(R 178).

Counsel later asked the defendant's friend if he would lie in court for the defendant (R 191-192).

The prosecutor's remarks regarding the professional manner of the deputy and those comments offered in explanation of why another individual had been released by the police had also been invited. The defense questions regarding the other man at best implied ineptitude, at worst gross police misconduct (R 174-175; 201). In Blackburn v. State, 447 So.2d 425 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), despite some 17 instances of improper comments, including vouching for the veracity of an officer, the court affirmed because the remarks were not "so overwhelmingly prejudicial that neither rebuke nor retraction would cure the error." Id., 426.

The defense concedes that no objection was voiced to the remarks of the prosecutor, yet argues that they were so prejudicial that fundamental fairness requires reversal. The comments that had not been invited, i.e., those related to "civic duty", did not constitute fundamental error. The Blackburn court

did not find fundamentally flawed remarks appealing to the jury's sympathy. Cf. Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1988), where this court found improper but not reversible the prosecutor's argument during the capital sentencing that "the victims could no longer read books, visit their families, or see the sun rise in the morning as Jackson would be able to do if sentenced to life in prison". Id., 809.

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